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MANAGEMENT AND OPERATIONS OF THE
OKLAHOMA-ARKANSAS IS DISTRICT

WEDNESDAY, DECEMBER 3, 1997

SUBCOMMITTEE ON TAXATION AND IRS OVERSIGHT,
U.S. SENATE,
COMMITTEE ON FINANCE,
Oklahoma, City, OK.

OPENING STATEMENT OF HON. DON NICKLES, U.S. SENATOR
FROM OKLAHOMA, CHATRMAN OF THE SUBCOMMITTEE

Senator NICKLES. The committee will come to order. I want to
thank everyone for coming, particularly our witnesses and guests
and other individuals that wish to participate in this hearing of the
Subcommittee on Taxation and IRS Oversight. Today we’re going
to hear testimony from taxpayers as well as IRS employees con-
cerning management and operations of the Oklahoma-Arkansas
IRS district.

The Internal Revenue Service is one of the Federal agencies that
touches the lives of nearly every American. The IRS presently has
over 102,000 employees and a budget of over seven billion dollars.
That's more money than the Department of Commerce. It's more
money than the Department of State. It’s bigger than the legisla-
tive branch and the judiciary branch combined. It has more em-
ployees than the CIA, FBI and DEA combined. These facts com-
bined with the fact that the very nature of the work—collectin
taxes, taking money from individuals—means that the IRS shoul
be held at the very highest level of accountability for their actions.

The IRS has extraordinary powers. They can seize homes and
paychecks. They can shut down a business. They can put employ-
ees and employers out of work. In some instances a taxpayer may
not even be aware of any prohlem until the bank calls to notify
them that their funds have been frozen. The IRS can take these ac-
tions in many cases without giving the taxpayer notice or the op-
portunity to be heard.

The mission statement of the IRS says, quote, “The purpose of
the Internal Revenue Service is to collect the proper amount of tax
revenue at the least cost, serve the public by continually improving
the quality of our products and services and perform in a manner
warranting the highest degree of public confidence in our integrity,
efficiency and fairness.” I agree with that entirely.

Most IRS managers and employees are hard-working, committed
public servants who take their job very seriously and strive to
carry out this mission statement. Most do a very good f°b' How-
ever, it's clear that in some cases IRS managers and employees are
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more interested in using intimidation and fear to increase their
orm power. Unfortunately, I believe that has happened in our
state.

In September the Senate Finance Committee held 3 days of hear-
ings which revealed startling information about the current oper-
ations of the IRS. Shortly thereafter Newsweek magazine reported
specific allegations of taxpayer rights violations in the Oklahoma
City IRS office.

Testimony at the Senate hearings revealed an IRS that targets
vulnerable taxpayers and frequently treats them with hostility and
arrogance. We heard about an agency that uses unethical and even
illegal tactics to collect taxes that often were not even owed. And
finally we learned the IRS management uses quotas to evaluate
employees and retaliates against men and women who work within
the IRS but who do not agree with these activities.

I believe it is simply unacceptable for IRS employees, any IRS
employees or managers, to operate in this manner. The good news
is that the strong majority, the overwhelming majority of IRS em-
ployees do not use these tactics. Most of them are upstanding pub-
lic servants who work very hard to do a difficult job and treat tax-
payers quite fairly. Today we're going to hear from some of the
public servants. I hope that their testimony and that of some tax-
payers will help Congress to develop reforms that are necessary to
make IRS work for the taxpayer.

Congress must decide if it is appropriate to give any government
agency this much power. More importantly, Congress must create
the checks and balances to establish accountability and responsibil-
ity within the IRS. Part of our job is oversight. Part of our job in
Congress is to make sure that the agencies which we fund do a
good job.

Just as taxpayers should not have to fear from a review or audit
by the IRS if they’re complying with the law, likewise Federal
agencies shouldn’t have anything to fear with Congress having a
review or oversight of their function to make sure that they're
doing their job, make sure that they are accountable to taxpayers.
And that’s what this hearing is about. That's what the hearings
that we had in the Finance Committee which I participated on in
September also were about.

Finally, let me just mention personally I'm disappointed that the
IRS District Director won't testify today —maybe we'll learn a little
bit more about this. But Mr. Sawyer who was district director in
this area I think for 10, 11, 12 years r:cently retired. I believe he
retired Wednesday last week.

We anticipated him testifying before this committee, and I was
disappointed because I think his testim.ony would have been valu-
able—particularly in regard to the fact that there has been a lot
of allegations concerning the IRS Oklanoma City office. I was hope-
ful that he would be able to answer some of those questions, and
he announced his retirement I guess a week ago Tuesday and—and
retired and actually left the office on Wednesday rather abruptly,
since we notified the public that we would be having this hearin
a week ago Monday. é)o we announced it a week ago Monday, an
I guess on Tuesday he announced his retirement and Wednesday
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had cleaned out his office. And I'm not begrudging him that right.
I think—that doesn’t look good. -

Again, there have been some serious allegations made concerning
the conduct of the Oklahoma-Arkansas district, and it was my hope
that he would testify and shed some light on some of the activities
and try to make sure that if there’s some abuses that have oc-
curred that they wouldn’t be occurring in the future. Instead he's
opted for retirement of which he was clearly eligible for, but it dis-
appoints at least this senator that he won't be participating in to-
day’s hearing. Maybe at some future point we'll still have his par-
ticipation.

I would like to call our first panel to come forward, and we will
begin. We're going to have a couple of panels. One will be a tax-
payer panel consisting of Dr. Jim Highfill from Ponca City; Mrs.
Lisa New from Guthrie, Oklahoma; and Mr. Steve Nunno from Ed-
mond, Oklahoma. I understand Mr. Nunno will be here shortly.

So, Dr. Highfill, I called on you first, so if you wish to proceed,
go ahead. Welcome to the committee.

STATEMENT OF DR. JIMMY D. HIGHFILL, PONCA CITY, OK

Mr. HIGHFILL. Thank you, Senator. I have elected to use my oral
presentation to share some personal thoughts on the way I was
treated by the Internal Revenue Service, the current state of the
IRS and tax law in this country and the direction that I believe re-
forms should go in the future. A more detailed account of my expe-
rience is given in my written testimony, and I would be happy to
answer any questions you have for me regarding my written or oral
testimony. I would like to thank you for the opportunity to appear
before you.

Although the circumstances under which we are meeting are un-
fortunate, I view today as an opportunity to influence and encour-
age reform of the Internal Revenue Service so fellow taxpayers will
not have to endure the type of mistreatment my wife and I have
recently received from IRS agents. I want to preface my remarks
by saying that my thoughts do not come from a partisan political
viewpoint, but instead through the eyes of an average, hard-work-
ing, taxpaying citizen.

For the last 21 years my wife and I have built a dental practice
in Ponca City, Oklahoma, where we have raised our family, met
countless payrolls and paid our taxes every sin%le year without fail.
I have tried to build a reputation throughout the community as an
honest and fair man who is good at what he does and truly cares
for his patients. I feel it is necessary to inform you of my back-
ground in order to demonstrate the type of person who is a victim
of the incredible abuse of power the Internal Revenue Service
agents have displayed.

I am a small business owner with five employees and last time
I checked, small businesses with less than 500 employees made up
87 percent of the U.S. economy. And of that 87 percent, 75 percent
are made up of businesses with 30 employees or less. I feel that
it is safe to say that people like me make up the back bone of this
country’s tax base so, please, listen to what [ and other small busi-
ness owners are saying in regards to tax reform. I have heard hor-
ror stories of small businesses being terrorized by the IRS, but I
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never thought it would happen to me. I have always used a cer-
tified public accountant to comply with tax laws and I would never
knowinily violate any tax law or regulation. Recently I experienced
one of those horror stories I've always heard about.

Even though I signed a power of attorney over to my CPA and
he assured me he had handled hundreds of audits, my IRS agents
insisted on interrogating my wife and I personally. When I pointed
out that my wife does our daily bookkeeping and unfortunately at
that time she had a paralyzed right vocal cord and could only whis-
per with a lot of strain, these agents grew even bolder about their
imagined guilt of mine. We had agreed through my CPA to meet
at a time which would allow Judy to honor medical appointments
to make sure that this wasn’t from a tumor. But they instead came
to my office and delivered a summons. I might add that this dis-
tressed my patients, my staff and my family unnecessarily.

I place part of the blame on the individual agents who treated
us with a lack of common courtesy and seemed to get a cheap thrill
out of humiliating and embarrassing my wife and me. I cannot say
with any certainty that the typical IRS agent gets his kicks out of
making taxpayers feel like common criminals, but one could defi-
nitely get that impression after going through an audit.

The real cause of the problem goes deeper than the personality
flaws of particular agents. The tax code itself has become more
complicated and burdensome every year. Politicians have turned
tax law into a method of social and economic engineering instead
of just a mechanism to collect the necessary revenue to keep gov-
ernment operational. The laws are so complicated and complex that
most educated people cannot even begin to understand them. Al-
though I personally believe the rate at which Americans are paying
taxes is too high as most citizens do, I also believe that if asked,
many citizens would say that the complication of taxes are as big
a-problem as the rate at which they are paying.

Our current system is a threat to the American dream. When
good and honest people are discouraged from prosperity because of
the incredible headaches that accompany economic gain, we need
to take a serious look at the direction in which we are heading. Our
society encourages hard work, savings, investing and, most of all,
a commitment to ensure that our children have a better life than
we have all had. Thus passing our country on to the next genera-
tion in better condition than we inherited it from our mothers and
fathers. Our current tax code does not encourage any of these val-
ues, but rather discourages all of them. I challenge the Senators on
this committee to take it upon themselves to change this sad fact.

Some suggestions I would make for reform are, first of all, true
reform. Our current system needs radical change, not tweaking and
tinkering. Subtle change will do nothing to help average citizens.
It is time to scrap our current system and start over with a fresh
slate. A watered-down piece of legislation will only make things
more complicated and pile on red tape instead of reducing it.

If certain special interests lose valuable deductions or windfall
loopholes, so be it. Please, give citizens a fairer and flatter system
that can be complied with within a matter of hours instead of a
matter of months. I can assure you that any pain caused by true
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reform will not equal half of the damage caused to middle class
taxpayers by our present system.

It is a helpless feeling when you automatically are assumed to
be a guilty criminal upon accusation rather than after due process
in a court of law. The current attitude of IRS agents seems to make
them think that they are the masters of the servant taxpayers
when in reality, I am the employer and they are the employees. I
pay their salaries along with other taxpayers, but I was treated as
though I owed them for allowing me to stay in business. You can
imagine the outrage and cynicism this provokes from taxpayers.
Government is a service industry, and I see no element of service
in the action of certain IRS agents.

There are times as dentists that we have to do things which our
patients may not think are great fun. Much is the position in which
the IRS sometimes finds itself. However, we do not barge ahead
with lack of feelings. We show courtesy and respect. Collections are
smoother if our patients feel they receive service worth the money
they are spending. We as citizens of America need to be thankful
for the government we have, but we need to feel the government
is being mindful that these dollars are hard to earn.

Another problem is that the IRS is under no time line to com-
plete an investigation. As a result, taxpayers have burdensome and
stressful investigations that go on for months and even years. We
are guaranteed a right to a speedy trial in our Court system, and
it would be nice if speed was a consideration of tax collectors rather
than increasing the harassment and the interest you pay by drag-
ging the audits out.

I want to conclude by saying that I am still idealistic enough to
believe that I along with fellow taxpayers and voters still run this
country. Citizens still ultimately control the destinies of the em-
ployees of the IRS. I believe I speak for others when I say that we

- are fed up with the IRS’s blatant disregard for individual liberties
and common courtesy.

As Senators, you have a responsibility to do something about it;
and if you do, you will improve this country and leave a legacy that
will benefit many generations to come. If you do not, taxpayers will
make changes until their views are heard and listened to and re-
sults are viable. Thank you for having me here today, and I hope
that my testimony will {wlp expedite in a positive change in our
country’s law.

Senator NICKLE3. Dr. Highfill, thank you very much. And I will
go through all the panelists and then come back and ask the panel
some questions, but I very much appreciate your statement before
i;lhe committee today. Next we have Lisa New from Guthrie, Okla-

oma. Lisa.

STATEMENT OF LISA NEW, GUTHRIE, OK

Ms. NEW. I also am no stranger to the Internal Revenue Service.
Myself and my accountant, Mr. Walter Hammert, has dealt with
them for the last 10 years. In '87 and 88 I owed the Internal Reve-
nue Service and the State of Oklahoma money due to my former
employee who was—employer who was actually paying me contract
labor when, in fact, it was not.



Well, at that time I was very young, very uneducated, wasn’t
really—didn’t really know what contract labor meant at that time.
And to my surprise, I owed the Internal Revenue Service and the
State of Oklahoma money for 1987 and ‘88.

My husband and I were just engaged, waiting to be married; and
we knew this was going to be a problem in the future. So I had
gone down on my own to the Internal Revenue Service and had
asked them to set me up a payment plan for this money that I did
not know—or was not expecting to pay. We did not have all the
money up front to pay it.

So I went down to set up a payment plan with them. I talked
to a gentleman there. He went to his computer; and to my surprise
and to his surprise I wasn’t even in the compute, but he did tell
me that I was now. I wasn’t then, but I am now. And so I had
asked him if he could set up a payment plan for me to pay these—
these taxes that were owed. And he told me the only way I was
going to resolve this matter was to pay it in full, that there was
no—no other way to do this.

So at that time I had left and contacted Mr. Walter Hammert,
which is my CPA which I had given power of attorney over my—
my Internal Revenue Service—given him power of attorney over
me. And he has done everything in the last 10 years to try to help
me, and we have just run to ends—no way of—no way out. I feel
like I'm a victim. I feel like I'm a crimina{ I feel like once you're
in their system there’s no way out.

And my husband and I have purchased a small home in Guthrie,
Oklahoma. And they have put a lien on my home. So it's—you
know, it's just a matter of time that they won’t end up with that
because the interest and penalties on such a small amount exceed
more than what my home really even is worth. There’s no way that
I could ever pay a payment that would—would ever knock off the
principal. It would be all interest. That’s how—how they work.

I feel like once you're in the system, you're in there forever, and
you’re never going to be able to get out. I have been doing this for
10 years now. We've tried every way possible to resolve this, and
it just feels like—it’s really hard to go to work every day and know
that just at any given time they can take your home away from

ou. .

Mr. Walter Hammert has done everything in his power to help
me on this. He has been my inspiration. He has been my—he has
been there for me thick and thin.

I went to the State of Oklahoma, and to this day I owe them
nothing. They did work out ¢ payment plan for me and did work
with me on that, and I don’t owe them anything. I have been an
honest taxpayer since then. I was an honest taxpayer before then.
I just felt like I was treated as a criminal.

My goal to be here today is to help somebody not have to go
through the torment, the embarrassment, the—just the overwheln-
ing effect that I feel like I'm a criminal, and I'm not. I'm an honast
taxpayer that honestly had gone down on m% own to try to resolve
this problem, and 10 years later we’re still where we're at.

So if we can do something to give—give the Internal Revenue
Service some compassion and not to treat everybody as a criminal,
to treat us all individually, look at our case and find out why we're



in this mess. A lot of people aren’t in this because of fraud. They're
in there because there has been a mistake of a former employer or
just flat ignorance, not knowing, uneducated. I would like to see
there be a way to educate some of these Feople not only as employ-
ees, but as employers and the Internal Revenue Service, people
there, the employees and employers of them.

Thank you. And I appreciate you letting me be here and telling
my statement.

Senator NICKLES. Ms. New, thank you very much for your state-
ment before the Committee, as well. Next we have Steve Nunno.
Mr. Nunno, thank you for participating as well.

STATEMENT OF STEVE NUNNO, EDMOND, OK

Mr. NUNNO. Thank you, Senator Nickles. First of all, I can’t tell
you how many of my friends warned me about coming here today
and testifying so—but I just want to thank the Senate Finance
Subcommittee and its chairman, Senator Don Nickles for inviting
me to testify and present my views today.

As I previously stated puglicly, I'm not interested in bashing the
S{stem. I am interested in helping the Subcommittee make some
changes that will be positive for the—for the country.

Many of you know me as the U.S.A. Olympic coach for women’s
gymnastics for the past two Olympic games in 1992 and 1996. But
I also run a number of successful gymnastics schools in the area,
in Oklahoma and in Texas where many of my students are devel-
oped to become—represent the U.S.A. internationally and also on
a recreational basis.

As you can-imagine, I travel extensively and sometimes for
months at a time. I'm on call for the U.S.A. as a volunteer, basi-
cally. The Olympic coaches are not paid. You're called in, and you
go and do your duty. And it's difficult at times to keep things run-
ning smoothly, and occasionally mistakes are made with my com-
panies because of my absence. However we try to learn from them
and keep on growing and trying to continue to grow.

One tﬁing that I've learned as a coach in 18 years is that ruling
by fear and intimidation only creates animosity and hatred. It only
works with—not just human beings, but certainly with most com-
panies, as well. And almost always I've found in coaching it pro-
duces low results.

In 1992 I returned from the Olympic games in Barcelona, Spain,
my company was at an all-time high. Income was up; but, of
course, along with that expenses were up and payroll went up, as
well. I currently employ about 80 people. My company was used to

aying payroll taxes quarterly where—and somewhere along the
Fine while I was gone for that two-month period, the IRS had sent
a notice to us for us to pay monthly. We had surpassed a certain
amount of payroll that would require us to pay our taxes monthly
rather than quarterly.

We continued—as I was gone for almost—almost 3 months, we
continued our quarterly payments, but were assessed severe pen-
alties and interests during that time because we did not pay the
monthly; and they were assessed until we got back on track. I re-
member receiving these outrageous bills from the IRS for f'ust pen-
alties and interest for amounts that were paid supposedly late.
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I asked for help. I tried to call the IRS for numerous times. It
took me almost a week before I could finally get through to a per-
son who could help me; and each time I called—I called back to the
IRS, it was like starting over. You start back into the system, and
you have to go through a series of qualifications to find out which
department you're actually after. And then when you get there, the
number is usually busy.

Finally I was transferred from Austin, Texas, back to a collection
officer in Oklahoma City; but I was warned if I did do that, that
I would be registered as a person that needed collection procedures.
And that was—that bothered me because basically I just wanted to
find out if there was a way that we could figure this out where we
could make the payment. Paying the amount was not a problem for
our company. It was doing well. It was that I was confused about
how much was actually owed because I had felt that the penalties
agd interests were—were on a first-time basis, we just didn't know
about it.

The collection officer assigned in Oklahoma City—I'll call him
Mr. T. Mr. T was—I don’t want him involved either. But he was
very knowledgeable about getting penalties abated. That was a

-word that I was not familiar with, penalties abated. But it sounded
good. And so that’s exactly what I was after was trying to find a
way that we could not really get out of the penalties, but just find
a way that we could stop them so we could come up with a collec-
tion procedure that I could actually make and satisfy both parties.

I wanted to set up a payment plan, and he—he found a way to
freeze the penalties that were currently due on the amount owed
and set uK a payment plan that was going to allow my company
to get back on track within three to 4 months. And I thought that
was fair, and we worked out the arrangement.

After 2 months, Mr. T was transferred and Ms. L took over. Ms.
L had a whole different point of view. Ms. L sent a notice of intent
to levy to my company. Even though nothing was ever given to me
in writing about the actual payment plan, it was just, I guess, a
handshake agrcement. At one point when we got back on track, I
did request it in writing, they did allow me; but they didn’t say
that it would satisfy all of the penalties and interests. They basi-
cally just stated this was what I had decided to do.

I called her directly, Ms. L; and she stated that she was going
to file a Federal lien on my company if the total amount wasn’t
paid within 25 days. She then threatened to—I said, well, that was
going to be difficult because I was then going to go out on an inter-
national trip and that was going to be difficult. She then threat-
ened to come and lock the doors and take all the property of my
company. Now, I didn’t realize that this was the severity of this
penalty and interest charge, but—because I had never really been
involved prior to that time.

Ms. L’s threats infuriated me, as I was currently making all the
monthly payments plus catching up on the past penalties and in-
terests as agreed upon by Mr. T. It didn’t make sense to me to
threaten a business that was making the effort.

I was fortunate to have other resources to turn to so I could stop
the daily continuous penalties and interests and threats of seizure
of my company’s property by just taking money from another
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source and paying it off. But I can see where many small business
owners would have nowhere to turn. I'm sure I'm not alone in this
circumstance. Try getting a loan from any bank to pay your compa-
ny’s back taxes. Not going to happen.

My company’s most recent encounter was last year while I was
out of the country again. My secretary had left while I was away
and not notified our CPA—our new CPA that she had not made our
payroll tax deposits. Again, the IRS threatened to seize the prop-
erty and our bank accounts. At this time I asked our CPA to han-
dle the situation who is in the audience, Barbara Lay. Initially, I
was given only 10 days myself to—by the collection agent to make
full payment, and only by involving my CPA was I able to gain ad-
d]itional time to attempt to determine the validity of the IRS
claims.

Once again, I was fortunate to have access to assets from other
sources to allow me to pay the exorbitant penalties and interest as-
sessed; however, I still can’t believe that after I paid the amount
of money, my accountant came up with that it calculated out to be
41 percent over and above what was originally owed in just 1 year,
just over a year period. Just as unfair to her was the belligerent
3nd ulnyielding attitude that the IRS took in dealing with my CPA

irectly.

So what’s the solution? Obviously, there should not be rewards
for delinquencies. However, I do believe that there should be some
help provided by the IRS itself. After all, the “S” in IRS does stand
for service. The Internal Revenue Service could save companies
thousands of dollars by simply answering its telephone and an-
swering a few questions. Most businesses can’t get through for days
and the penalty and interest meter just keeps on running.

Small business seminars could be offered to make sure that own-
ers—business owners know and understand the rules at their level
of business and as the businesses grow, what their responsibilities
are. More time could be spent educating and less time penalizing
companies, and that would help bridge the gap between the govern-
ment and businesses.

There is still that ever-present chilling fear of the IRS, as my
friends warned me today, that seems to run through the veins of
the American people. I believe this fear is caused by the exorbitant
penalties and interest charged by the IRS and their senseless
threats of property seizures. We small businesses believe in the
U.S.A. We take pride in our system, and we're proud to pay our
fair share of the taxes to this government of America. We just need
America to believe in us and help assist us so that we can all suc-
ceed together. Thank you.

Senator NICKLES. Mr. Nunno, thank you very much for your
statement. I think since the microphone is there, I'll start with you
and work backwards so we won’t have to do a shuffle of the micro-
phones. But I very much appreciate your statement, and I would
concur it sounds to me like in your case—and I wasn’t familiar
with your case as far as the details are concerned, but it looked like
in your case the IRS was quick to draw out the seizure card. “We're
going to come in and seize your assets. You're gone, we’re going to
lock the doors if some type of settlement isn’t made immediately.”
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One of the concerns I have about the Oklahoma City office and,
frankly nationalgr, is that the IRS had the authority and the power
to do that. We do have some good news, and I'm sure that later
this will be brought out, but we did receive a press release from
the IRS dated yesterday that said the IRS has established interim
procedures requiring higher level management approval of seizures
of property for non-payment of Federal taxes.

o I just want you te know and our other witnesses to know I
think we're making some headway. I think we're getting their at-
tention. It shouldn’t be at the sole discretion of a revenue officer
to be able to go in and say, “Well, wait a minute we're closing your
business.” And maybe in your case—and you pointed out an excel-
lent case where actually you had two different revenue officers.
You had one that you worked out a settlement that you were agree-
able with and you were going to be caught up in 3 months. That
sounds like that was the proper way to go. And then another reve-
nue officer comes in and says, “No. We’re going to lock the doors
if you don’t make immediate payment.”

Part of that may have been instigated because we had a very ag-
gressive effort—at least according to news reports, we had a very
aggressive effort in the Oklahoma City office—out of the Okla-
homa-Arkansas division that indicated seizures were the appro-
priate action, take them, take them now. I've got some memos that
indicate that they leaned in the direction of either filing liens or
seizure activities. But I did want to give you maybe that good
news.

The next paragraph says, “This high level of approval is a pru-
dent step to ensure that collection and enforcement tools such as
seizures are only used in appropriate cases,” said IRS Commis-
sioner Charles Rossotti. Mr. Rossotti, for your information, was just
confirmed by the Senate a couple weeks ago. But during the con-
firmation process we did bring to his attention some of the abuses
caused by IRS activities, particularly dealing with seizures. And I
could see the anxiety that you would have if you’re traveling as
often as you certainly do in your business, if someone says, “Wait
a minute. We're going to seize your assets while youre gone in
international competition.” I think that’s is very incorrect.

I also would share—I think your statement saying you're getting
the—I'm not going to say the runaround, but every time you would
get through and you would have to start all over in talking to dif-
ferent people is something—I imagine if we had 100 taxpayers that
have gone through trying to get a resolution of a problem with the
IRS, that probably a significant percentage of those would say the
same thing. “I'm talking to different people or different people are
giving me different answers.” And that's—can be very frustrating
in a lot of—a high degree of anxiety, as well. So I very much appre-
ciate your statement.

Mr. NUNNO. Senator Nickles, I would like to add, in this first in-
stance when Ms. L actually came up with her payment plan that
was a deviation from the agreed-upon one, I—basically scared to
death, scared the death out of me and I basically wanted to—
scared the life out of me, I'm sorry. I was already feeling that I was
threatened, and I felt that what I should do is just pay it and not
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really try to work something out here. I was just going to—I'm
going to go get the money and pay it. So I did that.

And I actually hand delivered the check to the woman on the day
before it was due, what she was saying and I told her I was going
to do it. We were in communication because I did return from a
trip, handed her the check. And a Federal lien was placed on my
bank account the next day after the check was already received.

And I called her—my bank called and said, “Steve, what's going
on?” I said, “Geez, you know, I thought everything was fine. Let me
find out.” I called her; and she said, “Oh, we made a mistake,” you
know, and so they removed it immediately. However, it's still on
my company’s report that it was filed for a zero amount.

And it was—it was just very strange and very frustrating, and
they wouldn’t remove it. I mean, once it’s on there, it's a difficult
process to remove it. And I always felt that, you know, that was
unfair and it was just an unfair situation. But that's the attitude
that I felt that these people were taking and they basically didn’t
care as long as, you know—“Well, the seizure isn’t going to happen”
is basically what her response was.

Senator NICKLES. But you still had a lien on your bank account?

Mr. NUNNO. For no amount, but it was—the fact was—it was for
a zero amount. The—it shows that it was paid. But on my compa-
ny’s credit report at that time—that was 8 years ago, 7 years ago.
At this time it still shows up. And it was—it was just really
strange that that would happen at all. And it just goes to show
that she said that it was placed and she forgot to remove it out of
the computer when I—when it did get paid in the process.

Senator NICKLES. Well, it would show that, one, she was using
the—I'm going to say a quick draw to use the lien—you have dif-
ferent enforcement tools, heavy enforcement tools. One is a lien on
your bank account, and another one would be a seizure of your as-
sets. And she already had implemented the lien. You just happened
to pay it off.

You also used a couple of words that I find interesting, and—be-
cause, one, I know you, but you said having this type of a case
brings out a certain amount of fear, animosity, hatred. Other peo-
ple have used words, intimidation. These aren’t words that tax-
payers who are trying to pay their taxes, trying to make ends meet
but also trying to be in compliance with the law, those are not
words that law-abiding citizens should feel when they’re dealing
with the government that they’re paying for. And we’re going to try
and change that.

You also mentioned that you didn’t feel like service was impor-
tant—the “S” word was in the Internal Revenue Service. We're
going to try and change that, as well. So I very much appreciate
your statement.

Next, Lisa New. Let me ask you a couple of questions. You men-
tioned—what business were you in that—in the pet grooming busi-
ness?

Ms. NEw. Uh-huh. Professional dog groomer, uh-huh.

Senator NICKLES. Professional dog groomer?

Ms. NEw. Uh-huh.
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Senator NICKLES. And so you worked for a company, but they
were treating you as an independent contractor? They would pay
you so much per animal or something like that?

Ms. NEw. Right.

Senator NICKLES. So they considered you as an independent con-
tractor and were relying on you to pay the taxes, and you were
thinking they were paying the taxes?

Ms. NEw. That is correct.

Senator NICKLES. And at that time you were pretty young. What
is that, 10 years ago?

Ms. NEw. Uh-huh.

Senator NICKLES. And so, anyway, so there’s non-paymcni of
taxes for 2 years, which you recognized. How did this come about?
Did the company say, “Whoops, we've got a problem.”

Ms. NEw. No. I had taken all of my tax—well, you know, you get
a 1099 at the end of the year, and so I had taken it to Mr. Walter
Hammert my CPA.

Senator NICKLES. Pull one of these microphones up closer. I'm
not sure which one. That one probably.

Ms. NEw. I had taken——
hSenator NIcKLES. No. The one—blue cable. Try that one. Yeah,
that's it.

Ms. NEw. I had taken my 1099 to Mr. Hammert which is my
CPA to prepare my taxes, and that's when it was to my surprise
I had owed money for both years.

Senator NICKLES. So you had 2 years of—and the company gave
you a 1099 and said, “Here’s money,” and then your accountant
says, “Whoops, we haven’t paid taxes on this.” So you had a tax
liability of how much? Do you mind me asking?

Ms. NEw. For both years it was under 5,000.

Senator NICKLES. For both years, 5,000 each year or 5,000——

Ms. NEw. No. Both years.

Senator NICKLES. 5,000 combined? You owed $5,000, part of that
state, part of that federal?

Ms. NEW. I believe that was all federal.

Senator NICKLES. All federal?

Ms. NEw. Uh-huh.

Senator NICKLES. So with your accountant you went to the IRS
or he went to the IRS and said,-“Let’s work this out.”

Ms. NEw. I had gone myself and gone down and said I need to
set up payments to pay this lien.

Senator NICKLES. So you could stretch it out over——

Ms. NEw. Right. I would like to pay, you know, $100 a month
or whatever it would take. You know, I wasn’t in any position to
pay a lot; but if we could do, like, $100 a month payment, could
we possibly do that. Which I—you know, from everybody I talked
to, that shouldn’t have been a problem. And I had gone down there
on my own.

And the gentleman there just had said, “Just a minute,” and had
gone back to the computers. And when he had went back, he come
back and told me I wasn’t even on the computers. I said, “Well,
how was that?” He said because sometimes at any given time the
computers can go on a blitz and can blitz people out. And I hap-
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pened to be one of those people that was blitzed out, but that I was
on there now.

Senator NICKLES. So you got yourself on there.

Ms. NEw. I sure did.

Senator NICKLES. But you're trying to comply.

Ms. NEw. Right. I wanted to take care of this. My husband and
I were just getting married; and we were just trying to buy a little
farm house out in Guthrie, a little frame house; and we didn’t want
this hovering over our head like it is right now.

Senator NICKLES. You also did the same thing with the state.
Youd;vorked it out with the state and paid the state what you
owed?

Ms. NEw. After the state had put a warrant out for me. I had—
I had the same problems as this gentleman did because I had
talked to different people. And just when I thought it was resolved,
somebody else would take it over. And I think the gentleman that
I was working with had to go to the—the Desert Storm, and he was
gone for a while. And somebody else took over my case and put a
warrant out for me. And I had to pay everything including interest
and penalties at—they gave me, like, 30 days to pay it.

Senator NICKLES. To the state?

Ms. NEw. Uh-huh. And so I paid that.

Senator NICKLES. So you paid the state amount, but you still had
a 5,000 bill to the Federal Government of which interest and pen-
alties were accumulating?

Ms. NEw. That'’s correct.

Senator NICKLES. Continue to accumulate?

Ms. NEw. Excuse me?

.Senator NICKLES. Are interest and penalties continuing to accu-
mulate today?

Ms. NEw, Oh, I'm probably worth about 30,000.

Senator NICKLES. The total liability from 5,000 in ‘87 or ‘88 is
how much now? :

Ms. NEw. Probably close to 30,000.

Senator NICKLES. Do they have a lien on your home?

Ms. NEw. Yes, they do.

b Senator NICKLES. And that’s probably the net value of your
ome.

Ms. NEw. Maybe a little less.

Senator NICKLES. I inean, after you deduct your mortgage and so
on.

Ms. NEw. Right. That’s correct.

Senator NICKLES. And really what you were seeking when you
went to the IRS was, “Whoops, we messed up. Two years we didn’t
make payments. We're wanting to work this out, maybe over a 3-
or 4-year period of time make this—get caught up.” They wouldn’t
agree to freeze the liability, to stop the accumulation of interest
and penalties. So now you have a $5,000 bill that’s grown in nine
or 10 years to almost six times that amount, about $30,000.

Ms. NEw. That is correct.

Senator NICKLES. And you still are looking at a lien against your
home.

Ms. NEw. Right.
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Senator NICKLES. So if gou tried to sell—you couldn’t sell your
home; or if you did, the IRS would be the principal beneficiary.

Ms. NEw. On the lien, you know, it says for, like, I think it was
6 years it would be taken off. But they’ve got it in the computer
to where the day before the expiration date on my lien, it kicked
out me another lien that extends until 2,000 something,

Senator NICKLES. Yeah.

Ms. NEw. It's never going to go away. And even to this day, I
mean [ was—I'm willing to do anything to resolve this matter and
have the lien taken off my house so I can go on with my life. It's
just right now, if I tried to set up any kind of payment plan at this
point, I would have to pay such a large amount of the payment a
month where hardly any of it—I would still be going into debt
every month. There would never be an out. It would be forever.

Senator NICKLES. Have you had any—so this happened back in
'87 and ’88. Subsequent to that have you had recurrent meetings
with them in an effort to try to get it resolved?

Ms. NEw. Yes, I have. Mr. Hammert which is my CPA, my attor-
ney—I gave him power of attorney over me. He has taken care of
it. Three or four times a year I get letters sent to me saying that
it has to—all of it has to be paid by a certain date or. We've tried
several times—and like I saig, right now it's to the point to where
I haven't tried to set up a payment plan with them because if I do,
the interest and penalties are going to be so—so much that I would
never get it paid off. I would just be giving them money for noth-
ing. Nothing would ever come out of it.

I'm willing to pay exactly what I owe today. I'm willing to give
them what I—my liability is, which is close to $5,000, I'm willing
to pay that if they would waive the interest and penalties. I know:
that at one time they were willing to abide—abate the penalties,
but the interest is what—the penalties wasn’t as much as the in-
terest. The interest is what's really high.

Senator NICKLES. Are you still in the pet grooming business?

Ms. NEw. Right now I'm working—I'm Yart-time on pet grooming
which now shortly after that, the Internal Revenue Service had re-
alized the problem with these employers paying dog groomers—
paying them as a self—an independent contractor. And now they
all take out taxes for all of us. But I also work for the VA Hospital
2 days a week, and I'm a full-time bus driver for Logan County.

Senator NICKLES. So you have three jobs?

Ms. NEw. Uh-huh.

Senator NICKLES. And you still have this lien staring you——

Ms. NEw. Uh-huh.

: Senator NICKLES. Does that cause you a lot of anxiety over the
ast——

Ms. NEw. It's caused a lot of anxiety on myself. It's caused a lot
of stress. It caused my husband and I marital stress. I mean, it has
b}el:en a problem on our marriage because we would like to resolve
this.

I had gone through some surgeries, I had some abnormal cells
in my cervix which would have been cancer. So basically it was like
a cervical cancer. I went through four different treatments on that,
and they never even—I had a bunch of medical bills and stuff, and
there was no remorse or no—they didn’t care. It didn’t matter what
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I owed. They wanted their money now. And, like I said, I was will-
ing to pay them their money. I owed it, and I honestly do owe it,
and I am willing to pay that.

Senator NICKLES. I appreciate your statement. You also made a
statement that you felt like you were being treated as a criminal.

Ms. NEw. Uh-huh, I do. Because I honestly went in on my own.
Nobody told me to go in. I could have—I coufd have just let that—
until they started haunting me or calling me. They never sent me
anythini before that time. I went on my own wanting to resolve
this problem. I owed it. I honestly owed it. We wanted to pay it
in whatever way we could that would, you know, accommodate our
finances, we were willing to pay.

Senator NICKLES. I appreciate your statement. Dr. Highfill, let
me ask you a couple of questions. Why don’t you move that one
rlnlicrophg)ne. So, Mrs. New, your case has been going on now for 10,

years?

Ms. NEw. Huh-uh.

Senator NICKLES. Dr. Highfill, you mentioned your case. What
year was that?

Dr. HIGHFILL. Okay. Let's see. They came about and wanted to
audit 1993. So this was a couple of years ago. And I certainly didn't
mind—I think it ({ust came up on a computer, and it was my time,
and I didn’t mind an audit. I knew I didn’t have anything to hide
or be afraid of anyway.

Although I do want to immediately say that—that the—the
power that the IRS has as soon as—as soon as they show up in any
way, everybody seems to just be afraid. And I don’t think that’s
right. I appreciate what you said.

But I had no problem with being audited. I thought it would be
very quick and easy because we have kept good records on a com-
puter, and my accountant was very competent. But somehow
they—and it wasn’t even close to true, but they began to think that
I had $45,000 of unreported income.

Senator NICKLES. Did an agent ask you if you had $45,000
stashed somewhere?

Dr. HIGHFILL. Well, he—he started talking to my accountant
about that; and he said, “You know, I don’t think that could be true
at all.” And so that’s what they used to say that they had to talk
to me. And, again, I didn’t even mind that. I just kind of wanted
to get—I knew I knew dentistry and I didn’t know taxes as well
as my wife and my accountant, and I was depending on my wife
a lot. She has a degree in that.

And so when she couldn’t speak, I was just saying, “Well, you
can ask me, but 'm not going to be able to tell you as much as
they are.” And so we set up what I thought was a good time. And
even though they told my accountant one thing right in his office,
said, “Okay, you check and we'll—we’ll get back and we’ll meet on
such and such a time,” they went straight from his office and
seemed to be kind of lying to him because they already had a
typed-out summons already dated and signed and everything and
just came straight from his office to my office and scared my recep-
tionist to death. .

Senator NICKLES. What—so they worked out a meeting or a time
with your accountant and you or your wife to try and reconcile the
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discrepancies, but instead they went into your office with a sum-
mons. Did they announce that——

Dr. HIGHFILL. Yes.
thSte;avnator NickLES. How was that? How did you find out about

at?

Dr. HIGHFILL. I was in the back working with patients, and
they—in their black suits just like we all seem to hear—and by the
way, ever since I had my name out, a lot of my friends—like Steve,
a lot of friends have called me, a lot of people that I didn’t know.
I have had letters put underneath my door. And they all have this
same theme of how the IRS has treated them as criminals when
they weren’t and—I know they have a job to do, and I don’t think
any of us that are here to argue that. It's just—mine wasn’t a col-
lection thing. It was the audit part. I don’t mind an audit, but I
don’t like them treating my wife in a way that I wouldn’t treat
their wife and so I got mad.

hSenator NICKLES. Did they announce in your reception room that
they——

Dr. HIGHFILL. Yes. There were patients there waiting and my—
they said, “We're from the IRS and we want to see Dr. Highfill
right this—right now.” And I don't think they can go into a hospital
and pull someone out of an operating room, and I was in the mid-
dle of a procedure and—so I said, well, tell them to take a seat
and—I called my accountant because I had just talked to him ear-
lier on determining when we were going to meet. And I was con-
fused and—and he was confused and mad because they had just
told him one thing and then came in there.

So, yes, they—I had never had a summons issued to me, and it's
not a—it's not a Sleasant feeling. And so it—it bothered my pa-
tients; it bothered my receptionist. I've never-seen her look so
frightened. And I just didn't think it was necessary.

And then it went downhill from there. They—they were rude
and—they never did—later they said all this, and so I had a lawyer
and my accountant there because I knew that was quite a—if they
thought I hadn’'t reported $45,000 that’s—I mean, a deduction is
one thing, but fraud is another. And I knew I hadn’t done it, but
that gets your attention. -

But then they just asked me about whether I had cash buried in
mf\; home or—you know, whether I had a cash hoard at home. And
when I said, “What?” Because I really couldn’t believe they asked
that question, they said, “Do you know what the word ‘hoard’
means?” And I said, “Yes. I have a good vocabulary. I just didn’t—
I just couldn’t believe you asked that question.”

And that was just typical. It was just—they—they just really had
some mission and just wouldn’t turn loose. They talked to my wife
till well into the afternoon until she just—you couldn’t hear her. I
mealm-—and she was better by then than she was the week or two
earlier.

Senator NICKLES. She had a medical problem with her throat or
something?

"Dr. HIGHFILL. Yes. It was very strange, and it's not something
you can fake. It wasn’t because the IRS was wanting to talk to her.
She lost her voice, and for a while I thou%ht it was just laryngitis
and everyone was asking me how I could be so lucky that my wife
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‘couldn’t talk; but after a while it wasn’t funny anymore because
- she would have to whistle or clap if I was facing the other way be-
cause she couldn’t get my attention. She couldn't speak. And so she
;yould whistle, and I would turn around and then kind of read her
ips.

The ear, nose and throat specialist that we consulted even let me
look with fiberoptics down at the vocal cord. And one was vibrat-
ing, and one was just paralyzed. And it's not something you can
fake, and it's—it's documented. This was before, and we were in
the (;]rocess of tryini to get it cured, and—but that didn’t seem—
like her, that—you know, I said, “Well, talk to the ear, nose and
throat person,” but they wouldn’t bother to do that. They said, “No,
we're going to talk to her.”

Senator NICKLES. So you had a summons.

Dr. HIGHFILL. Yes,

Senator NICKLES. You eventually met with attorneys and—

Dr. HIGHFILL. Yes.

Senator NICKLES [continuing]. And your accountant. And they
were alleging a lot of unreported income, and how long did it take
before you settled your case.

Dr. HIGHFILL. It was, what, another 6 months or—it was at least
another 6 months, which once they finally—you know, they threw
out a deduction or two and—but they were adding their penalties
and interest all this time. And—in fact, they were so unhappy that
they couldn’t find much with 1 year, they said, “Okay, we want to
audit 1994.” And my—my wife said, “What?” And so they made—
we got all of our records out and went through it again. You know,
they went through a complete long audit because they didn't like
they couldn’t find anything on that year. So they audited the next
year, too. -

Again, the% have the right to do that, and I don’t mind; but I
don’t think they need to treat people with a—like a criminal when
you're not.

Senator NICKLES. Well, you're not the first person to say that out
of the panel, and we don’t want that to happen. We want the IRS
to have the authority to go after people that are not paying their
taxes, that are trying to circumvent the system, but not law abid-
ing citizens that are trying to pay their taxes.

Dr. HIGHFILL. I don’t mind that, but they need to start out—
there’s no reason to start out—once it warranted it, that might be
one thing; but when it doesn’t even warrant it, T just don’t think
it’s necessary.

Senator NICKLES. I want to thank all of our panel. Mr. Nunno,
did you have something you wanted to add?

Mr. NUNNoO. No.

Senator NICKLES. Mr. Nunno and Mrs. New and Dr. Highfill, I
appreciate very much your statements today. I want to also echo
this is not—I did not try to say this is representative of all tax-
payers in Oklahoma because I know that we have had thousands
of people that have not had any groblems, but I do know in some
cases the IRS has not worked and it has been abusive or it hasn’t
tried to work out things with taxpayers and has used the threat
of liens, in your case actually imposed a lien even though the pay-
ment had already been made or used the threat of seizures or in
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some cases just show no common sense whatsoever and so turned
a small problem that should have been worked out over a short pe-
riod of time, particularly since you had the initiative, Ms. New, to
take the case to them and say, “Let’s try and work this out.” But
for whatever reason it wasn't, and now you have a much bigger
problem; and you still have that big problem.

And like Mr. Nunno and Dr. Highfill they have been able to get
their problems behind us. Your business in grooming animals
maybe you didn’t have the resources to be able to reach into other
pockets and be able to solve that. And there’s a lot of people in
your—in your situation, and those interests and penalties continue
to accumulate, aggravating a very real problem.

So anyway, 1 agpreciate all of you. Let me just say one other
thing. I don’t doubt that some people probably said you probably
shouldn’t testify because, look out, you're going to be audited for
the next 20 years. You haven’t seen any harassment yet.

We made the statement—when we started these hearings in Sep-
tember and we had the acting commissioner acting director of the
IRS Mr. Dolan, we asked him a question. I said, “Will there be any
retribution whatsoever against anybody that participates in these
hearings, whether they be IRS employees or whether they be tax-
payers?” And he said, “Absolutely, totally, completely not.” And I
expect that that will be the case. And I want to know if it's not
the case. So, again, thank you very much for your participation be-
fore the hearing.

I'll now ask for our next panel to come forward. This will be a
panel consisting of current and former IRS employees: Ms. Mona
Meier, IRS employee from Oklahoma City; Larry Lakey, IRS em-
ployee from Edmond, Oklahoma; and Jerry Quisenberry, former
IRS employee from Owasso, Oklahoma.

Mona Meier, thank you for your willingness to participate before
the hearing; and I called on you first, so I'll let you be first.

Mr. MEIER. Okay. Thank you. Good morning. My name is Mona
Meier, and I'm a collection——

Senator NICKLES. Pull the microphone really close because it’s
kind of hard, I think, for some of the people out there to hear.

Mr. MEIER. That better?

Senator NICKLES. Yeah. Thank you.

STATEMENT OF MONA MAIER, IRS EMPLOYEE, OKLAHOMA
CITY, OK

Mr. MEIER. I have been with the Internal Revenue Service for 19
years with seven of those years being in management. I would like
to start with reading excerpts from policy statement P-120 as I
will be referring to it throughout the course of this statement.

“Records of tax enforcement results shall not be used to evaluate
enforcement officers or impose or suggest production quotas or
goals. This pronibition is necessary not only to protect the employ-
ees from adverse impact of quantitative goals, but also to protect
taxpayers against possible inequities. Forecasts and monitoring as-
pects of work planning and control programs shall not be used as
quotas, allegations or as specific amounts of work that must be
completed.”
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While I was in the district and since Mr. James the division chief
took over, he has repeatedly advised employees that they have not
made enough seizures. Along with that, he let them know that 20
percent of them were not doing their jobs. He, then, told them that
they would be losing their jobs because of this. Employees also
have reported to me receiving confirmation of this directive from
group managers Court Kragenbrink and Diane Morrow who told
them seizures would be emphasized and must be conducted in
order to receive a favorable rating.

As directed by James, his staff assistant reviewed the employee
appraisals and compared their ratings to the list of seizures tI())r the
prior fiscal year. I advised my employees of what Mr. Wallace had
done after they asked me what he had done. I was later told by
the branch chief Dave Edgington to go back and tell my employees
that he had not done this. So, in effect, he was asking me to lie
to my employees. I followed his direction, as I'm required to do, and
then reported the incident to the Inspector General’s office as well
as local inspectors.

P-120 violations were never investigated until after the News-
week article was published and we got notoriety for that. The alle-
gations that the branch chief advised me to make false statements
to my employees was never investigated and to this date has not
been investigated, and that was reported in March of this year.

I was repeatedly advised that employees would be removed from
the offering compromise program for not meeting an undisclosed
goal set by Mr. James of the average number of hours spent closing
cases. I then watched as those who had fewer closures were har-
assed because of this.

I provided evidence consisting of date-stamped documents which
prove the special procedure branch was falsifying a report by utiliz-
ing incorrect receive dates in order to show a more favorable statis-
tic. Upper management supported this behavior by submitting this
as a best practice, as a role model for other districts to use. This
no doubt contributed to the appraisals which was likely sufficient
to get them awards.

It was clear to many of us that as long as you dpresented positive
statistical results, the method would be endorsed at a higher level
regardless of any violations that were made to achieve them. To
date dozens of referrals have been made to the Inspector General's
office. They were obviously never investigated. Many believed that
they had finally been heard upon heariirg that Mr. James had been
placed on administrative leave.

Shortly after that, they also learned that a well respected first
line manager with over 30 years of experience was also suspended.
Many believe this to be an attempt by upper management to divert
blame for their violations. Having worked for this manager myself,
I view him to be a very ethical and very dedicated employee.

David Edgington, Diane Morrow and Court Kragenbrink have
continued in their positions with full authority. In fact, each one
of them has acted in a level—at a level at~least one step above
their own position since these allegations came out. This is despite
numerous allegations by employees they-—who believe that they
not only participated in P-120 violations, but that they also failed
to report the direction that Mr. James gave them to commit them.



20

After national attention, the IRS responded by issuing press re-
leases implying no wrongdoing, and they provided a very different
definition of what the full range of collection tools meant. Certainly
different than what I and my co-workers had been told that it
meant.

In addition, a manager in the region with close ties to both our
district director and the regional commissioner submitted a letter
to the editor in the Oklahoma City and Tulsa newspapers saying
that the problems that were being reported were only those of a
few disgruntled employees. The district director supported this
statement by having it printed in our local newsletter, and it was
distributed to all employees while Internal Audit was still inves-
tigating the P-120 violations. Many employees in the office consid-
ered this to be a message that there was nothing to fight and that
if they presenied anything to the contrary, that they would be con-
sidered as one of these disgruntled employees; and they had al-
ready seen what had happened to themn.

Another response to aﬁegation of charges of pressure from the di-
vision chief to seize was to issue a letter raising the approval au-
thority on seizures to the division chief and the district director.
These are the very people who are accused of violations and allow-
ing violations in the district. So I didn’t share in your joy that they
had made that statement.

Internal Audit, who is an arm of the Service, advised me that
when they did their investigation, they were not going to weigh the
employee statements very heavily. Tﬂey could not respond to me
when I asked them why they didn’t take sworn statements which
would have certainly given the statements more credibility.

Because these hearings today do not have the capability of con-
cealing identity of witnesses, in addition to my own statement, I
have also received a number of statements from other employees
who were afraid to reveal their identities for fear of reprisal for
doing so. I will act as a conduit for them to be heard. These state-
ments will be read in third person regardless of the source so as
not to imply their identity. Because of the limited time frame allot-
ted today I will only have time to read excerpts of the employee
statements; however, I would encourage you to read each of the
statements fully as there is very important information contained
in these statements.

Senator NICKLES. Will we have the names of the individuals if
we wish to pursue it. They wish to be totally anonymous?

Mr. MEIER. They wish to be totally anonymous. There was a cou-
ple of employees who stated that if you wanted to talk with them,
they would talk with you personally. But for the most part the fear
is so great of reprisal that they know they would risk their jobs if
their name was known. And I think Mr. Lakey can attest to that.

Employee 1 is a—states that: I am aware Court Kragenbrink has
established his own policy of refusing to sign all abatement of pen-
alty requests based upon reasonable cause although the manual
does, in fact, allow for this. While the internal audit investigation
was still in process, Mr. Kragenbrink let his group know in a group
meeting that he was told over half of his employees reported he
was numbers driven and that this was not true and that he was
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clearing this statement up. The group sensed it was having ver-
bally chastised for making that report to the investigators.

Employee statement 2: Showing disdain for the very constitution
that he’s sworn to uphold, Ron James violated employees’ rights by
attempting to control who they spoke to or associated with. Mr.
James made it very clear that if they failed to follow his direction,
that they were not going up, not going down, not going lateral, they
were going out.

Dave E %ington told a revenue officer to levy a large corporation
that owed less than $100,000 even though the revenue officer ex-
plained to him that this taxpayer had a credit in excess of three
million dollars available to him. The revenue officer did not take
the action as directed.

Managers suspected that Edgington used a list—a seizure list to
determine whether revenue officers were overrated by their group
managers. The suspicions were confirmed by Court Kragenbrink
who said he actually saw the list when Edgington attempted to
lower a revenue officer’s evaluation. Kragenbrink failed to report
the violation as required and was rewarged for failing to uphold
this charge.

Employee statement 3: In a town hall meeting James said that
if ROs weren’t using all of their collection tools including seizures,
then they were not going to have a job for long. He said revenue
officers are the only ones in IRS that have the authority to do sei-
zures and if seizures weren't going to be done, then Congress would
get rid of revenue officers. An employece was told by upper manage-
ment that they're currently not to collect accounts which includes
hardship cases and developed corporations. They told them that the
rate of these type of cases was much too high.

Employee statement 4: We were told by James that revenue offi-
cer inventories will consist of primarily in-business taxpayers.
These taxpayers should be given no more than 30 days to pay their
balances in full. If they were unable to do that, then we were to
proceed with immediate enforcement action such as seizure of the
business.

A group manager took cases that had pending seizures from one
employee and resigned them to two other employees who had not
done seizures that year. These employees had appraisals coming up
and that was the indication as to why the transfers were being
made. Employees who did not have any seizures were targeted by
upper management.

Employee statement 5: Ron James stated that it was our mission
to conduct as many seizures as possible. Nowhere in our mission
statement does it state that seizures are a priority. During the
time that James and Edgington have been in Oklahoma City, reve-
nue officers became aware that yearly evaluations of their cases
would include whether they had completed a seizure of a taxpayer’s
assets during the year being reviewed. The phrase “full range of
collection tools” came to be known as primarily the actual number
of seizures completed by the revenue officer.

Edgington reviewed one case and stated that as a repeat tax of-
fender the business needed to be seized and put out of business.
The revenue officer at that time had been working with the tax-

ar



22

payer to secure payment which would have allowed the taxpayer
to continue to operate.

The business was a family-operated business in the state for over
40 years and was currently being run by a paraplegic. If the sei-
zure had been conducted, the government would have recognized
approximately $10,000 from that sale. By working with the busi-
ness owner, the government recognized full payment of almost
58,000 and closed the case on an agreeable note.

Employee statement 6: An attorney who was making a modest
living that had a farm that was encumbered with no seizure poten-
tial and had liquidated all other assets as he had been instructed
to do by the revenue officer. Revenue officer was going to close the
account out as a hardship showing no ability to pay. When
Kragenbrink reviewed the case, he said absolute{y not. The attor-
ney would be left with nothing because he was an attorney. It ap-
peared that he was being—basing his decision solely on what the
taxpayer did and nothing more.

Employee statement 7: Seizures, levies and related enforcement
tools are necessary components of tax collection. An amazing num-
ber of in-business individuals thumb their noses at Federal taxes
believing that everyone else can pay for the benefits and services
a civilized society provides. It is an issue of fairness that everyone
pay their share of taxes. A high profile person with adequate funds
to hire a prominent tax attorney shoulti) not be allowed to pay one
penny less than he or she owes; nor should an individual who
trusts the IRS to treat them fairly be saddled with additional con-
venient assessments as a result of that trust.

IRS collection local upper management has taken to heart direc-
tives from Congress to be more accountable through production.
Congress’s behavior to continue to demand higher, more efficient
collection of tax debt while siding with the taxpayers during the
election year has led to conflicts in trying to meet with disparate
demands. These demands confuse revenue officers in carrying out
of their duties. These conflicts can be illustrated in topics in a re-
cent IRS education seminar.

Collection Division Chief Ron James welcomed the revenue offi-
cers to CPE by telling them that while an earlier policy defined sei-
zure action as a last resort, now they would be one of the first op-
tions to be considered. This is in direct conflict with the Internal
Revenue manual.

James went on to say that ROs who did not perform enough sei-
zures would be placed in clerical jobs since that’s all they were
really doing anyway. Group Manager Kragenbrink confirmed for
the class that he does not approve any installment agreements for
going businesses. This is in direct conflict with our standard oper-
ating procedures.

A training case study which outlined a situation of a business
that owed taxes was reviewed and discussed by the class. The con-
sensus based upon local enforcement posture was to seize every-
thing and close the business down. The book answer was to grant
an installment agreement.

ROs want to do their job correctly, fairly and efficiently, but they
are being torn between appropriate collection action in one situa-
tion and pressure to deliver statistics.
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Returning to my own statement now. Unless upper management
is investigated and punished as rigorously as those front-line em-
ployers accused of wrongdoing, there will be no clear deterrent not
to repeat offenses. If they believe the worst thing that will happen
to them as a result of violations is that they will be retired early
or transferred, then they will—other managers and employees that
are watching may determine that the risks—the benefits far out-
weigh the risks.

It's important to remember that the P-120 violations could have
had much more severe impacts on the taxpaying public had it not
been for the ethics and dedication of the front-line employees who
risked their positions by refusing to follow directions to seize on
cases when they thought it was inappropriate, although it would
have been much easier on them to simply succumb to pressure for
the loss of their positions.

Upper management determines the climate and policies for ap-
plying tactics and tax laws, therefore it is at this level that the
greatest impact on the taxpaying public is affected. There must be
an independent body assigned to investigate ethical misconduct of
IRS employees, particularly upper management. This body must be
one that has not risen from the ranks of Internal Revenue Service
so as not to establish a network with internal management and
therefore will not be influenced by the power of those individuals.

I would like to thank you for allowing me to speak here today
and strongly encourage you to continue to monitor the situation
here in Oklahoma City until the employees and the taxpayinf pub-
lic can be assured that this situation is appropriately resolved.

Senator NJCKLES. Ms. Meier, thank you very much. Next we
have Larry Lakey who is an IRS employee from Edmond, Okla-
homa. Mr. Lakey.

Mr. LAKEY. Thank you.

Senator NICKLES. If you would grab one of these—yeah, that one,
I believe. Pull it pretty close because I think some of the people in
the back might have a hard time hearing.

STATEMENT OF LARRY LAKEY, IRS EMPLOYEE, EDMOND, OK

Mr. LAKEY. My name is Larry Lakey. I have been a revenue offi-
cer with the Internal Revenue Service since 1985. I've worked in
collections all that time. I am currently an Offer-in-Compromise
specialist. My service with the government includes 3 years that I
spent in the Army. I served honorably in Vietnam for a year as a
combat medic with the First Infantry Division. My tenure with the
Internal Revenue Service has been honorable and meritorious. I
have received numerous awards for excellence, and my annual ap-
praisals are repeatedly high enough to earn me special recognition.
I'm a GS-12 which is the highest level of revenue officer series. I
am 52 years old and would like to think that I have a career at
my present i’ob. However, in the last 2 years it has become increas-
ingly difficult to be proud of this organization.

The integrity of tﬁe Internal Revenue Service is more suspect by
the employees than it is either by Congress or the %ublic that we
serve. At once the job of collecting tax and treating the public with
congruency and fairness is being hampered with constant pressure
to close more and more cases regardless of how many dollars that
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go uncollected. In a meeting we were told by our mid-level or
ranch chief manager that our performance ratings for the year
will be in direct relationship to the number of seizures that we
make. This is in direct contradiction to Public Policy P-120 which
prohibits evaluation on the basis of enforced collection statistics.
This is but the latest in a 2-year long effort to pressure employees
to close cases. We have been told by mid-level and upper manage-
ment that if we don’t do seizures of property we better look for an-
other job. During our opening session of our annual continuing pro-
fessional education meeting, our division chief, Ron James, warned
us that 80 percent of the employees are not doing their job and the
other 20 percent—excuse me—only 80 percent of the employees are
doing their job. The other 20 percent better start looking for em-
ployment elsewhere.

There are secret files being kept on collection statistics by reve-
nue officers in the Special Procedures function. The number of
suits and the number of seizures by revenue officers are on com-
puter files. I know that they exist or at least they did exist. What
1s often forgotten in dealing with statistics is that statistics are
people’s lives. Revenue officers’ lives, but particularly the lives of
the taxpayers that we are hired to serve.

We are discouraged from doing our job if that involves more than
just a cursory attempt to collect the returns and the money. The
pressure is not coming from our first-line management. The pres-
sure is coming from management in policy making decisions and
positions. We are told to ignore the law and do what we are told
to do. We are encouraged to ignore any issues that might slow
down the collection process. I was tcld by my branch manager
David Edgington recently that I should ignore tﬂe tax fraud issues
of a case and close it immediately.

Over and over again someone I work with is told they don’t know
how to do their job and better look for something else to do. These
are seasoned, career employees, people I know and respect. The
hostility in the workplace is becoming unbearable. The instances of
stress-related illnesses is alarming and increasing.

Recently an employee with 15 years of experience was hospital-
ized with a variety of medical problems. He eventually had his leg
amputated. During the extended stay in the hospital he asked for
some advance sick leave, but was denied. Only through interven-
tion of Senator Inhoffe was the leave issue resolved. Advance sick
leave requests normally re(Luire a simple written memo, but for
some reason the division chief decided to change a part of the
NORD IV labor agreement which allows for such leave because this
employee had not—had fallen from favor. The employee is still ex-
periencing difficulties with his leave requests and pay. During the
time when he is least able to care for himself, upper management
continually places obstacles in his way to make a difficuit situation
even more $o. '

One of the finest employees that we've ever had, a 34-year vet-
eran of the Internal Revenue Service, is now retired. His integrity
is impeccable. His ethics are as unquestionable as his knowledge
of the job. Now after all these years he has been pressured into re-
tiring. He was treated like a criminal and finally retired. This act
of barbarity is unthinkable. But nonetheless his number of seizures
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was not at an acceptable level. After a lifetime of public service and
at a time when he is most vulnerable, he was forced out of the
workplace.

Another 25Rrear veteran of the Service is now on sick leave.
While ill, the division chief ordered that all of her cases be brought
to him for personal review. This is another employee that appears
to ha\{le been targeted to be removed for not closing cases fast
enough.

One of the best of our employees was assigned a particularly dif-
ficult case that involved blatant tax fraud and income tax evasion.
When this employee took the a };lropriate action to collect the tax,
the division chief stepped in and halted the proceedings because he
had been contacted by one of his former IRSpmanagers who sought
relief from the actions. The division chief, Ron James, did every-
thing to intimidate the employee including lowering her perform-
ance. Internal Inspection was notified, but nothing was done.

We have been given training on ethics. We are treated like we
are the problem. Increasingly we have tighter controls placed on
us. At the same time upper management is held to a different set
of standards. For example, at a recent meeting the division chief
admonished an employee when she actually told the hotel where
she was staying that her daughter was staying with her. The divi-
sion chief told her she should never have mentioned that her
daughter had accompanied her, it only caused her to pay more
room rate.

We are told that we can report ethics violations to the Office of
Government Ethics. When we do, nothing happens. We are told
that we can report Code of Conduct violations to Internal Inspec-
tion or to the Inspector General. We do file reports, and nothing
happens. There is absolutely no one within the IRS in a position
to effect change that is paying attention.

I'm so thankful that after all these years someone somewhere is
listening. No one agrees more than the people I work with that
changes need to be made. However, the changes that are being
made involve reducing the number- of front-line employees and al-
lowing people in positions of power to maintain their jobs. Thank
you, Senator Nickles, for taking the time to listen and make sure
that the business of government is in the hands of the trustworthy.

It is very popular to treat government employees as though we
are the problem. In fact, we are trying very hard to do a difficult
job and do an excellent job in spite of the fact that what upper
management really wants is more statistics with less people. We
all agreé we need to be as productive as possible. We are capable
and resourceful employees. We know the mission of the Service. It's
very clear in our minds: To collect the correct amount of tax at the
least cost to the government.

My suggestion to Congress and to the Internal Revenue Service
is to remove all—to remove all of the people in leadership positions
that, first of all, cooperated in allowing the IRS to get so out of
touch with the intentions of the law and the general public, start-
ing with Mike Dolan who first denied that there was a problem all
the way down to first-line managers that are still in place that still
rate their employees on the basis of seizures and suits. Only a very
clear signal from Washington will solve the problem. I'm not talk-
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ing about just finding them another position somewhere to reward
them for their actions, but firing them and taking their retirement.
Only then will the message be clear. Integrity is a matter of leader-
ship and not following blindly. Someone of sparkling integrity must
be placed at the helm who knowsa the pitfaﬁs, but also knows the
law and by example is willing to set a climate of fairness to both
the taxpayers and the employees.

This is not a new problem. This atmosphere has been in place
since 1986 when Ken Sawyer first became district director. In 1989
and 1990 another similar scenario took place and a similar cover-
up was achieved. During that period the internal investigation was
conducted similar to the one that's going on now, but it turned out
the investigation was to find out what the employees knew strictly
for damage control. It worked. The problem went away, swept
under the carpet again.

This time we have a perfect opportunity to clean up the entire
operation; but if Congress is serious, you must not abdicate your
res%onsibility. Don’t pass more laws telling the IRS to do more
with less. Establish an oversight committee that consists of a front-
line employee on the committee. And whatever you do, don’t allow
the bureaucrats to mind the store. There has to be supervision and
accountability by people of integrity and conscience in charge of the
IRS and someone they can report directly to with problems and
suggestions. Allowing the chain of commands to handle a problem
will never work. Direct contact between the governed and the gov-
erning and between the policymakers and the first-line government
employees is the only way of assuring compliance with the spirit
as well as the letter the of laws passed by Congress.

As long as the people remain who are part of the problem, things
are not going to change. The message is going to be clear, the
}vl%gtewas continues, the status quo remains alive and well at the

Senator NICKLES. Mr. Lakey, thank you very much for your
statement. Next we’ll hear from Je Quisenberry from Owasso,
Oklahoma, former IRS employee. Mrl.—%uisenberry, welcome. Thank
you for coming over, too.

STATEMENT OF JAMES D. QUISENBERRY, FORMER IRS
EMPLOYEE, OWASSO, OK

Mr. QUISENBERRY. Senator Nickles, I'm very happy to appear be-
fore you today and I want you to know that you are keeping the
spark of our republic alive by holding these hearings. I was begin-
ning to believe that the apathy in Congress and the White House
concerning the situation at the IRS and the Treasury Department
would continue to allow the will of a few top officials to guide the
course of this great nation.

You are just beginning to look into the vortex of fear that the em-
ployees at IRS and the taxpaying public having living in for years.
All of the rhetoric and promises for reform at the tax code will not
attain what is wanted by and needed by the American public even
if Congress actually follows through with a new revolutionary tax
system as long as the current structure is in place to enforce the
new code. It would be like placing new wine in an old skin, and
we've known for 2,000 years that simply won’t work.
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I have been speaking out about fraud and waste and abuse at
IRS since 1989 in hopes of exposing the deep-seated root~—corrup-
tion in a system that has been driven by personal greed and agen-
das for over a decade that I'm aware of. From the numerous radio
talks shows that I have had that I have been on that dealt with
the corruption of IRS top officials and the adulterated system that
they’ve created, I am certain the American taxpayers are glad to
finally see some motion by Congress.

I tried to tell the President, Ross Perot, Jerry Brown and mem-
bers of Congress, Gordon Liddy, and, yes, even Rush Limbaugh
what I had witnessed firsthand while working as an inspector with
the Internal Security Division of the IRS. The information appar-
ently fell on deaf ears or did not fit tightly into their agendas.

We would not be sitting here today rehashing these terrible ac-
tions that have been recently reported if someone, or for that mat-
ter anyone, had worked as gard to correct the system as they did
to sell their books or get re-elected.

I told you what I saw in my little book, “IRS, the Beast From
Within” because there was no other way to make it known public.
I promised the honest taxpayers that risked their careers to report
the mismanagement and corrupt policies and procedures at IRS
that I would do everything I could to make it known publicly. I
wanted to bring it before a grand jury and IRS inspection failed to
get it to that level. This is my second option, and thank God after
8 years the system does work and I'm here.

1 took my book off the shelf—I wrote it in '94. I took it off the
shelves in the Oklahoina City area—the few book stores it was in—
after the Oklahoma City bombing incident; and, Senator, I want
you to know in all sincerity that there are a lot of very angry, mis-
guided people out there that—it does not surprise me what hap-
pened at all, and I'm just—I thank God it hasn’t happened on a
more recurrent basis.

The American people are absolutely sick and tired of the bureau-
crats, both inside the IRS and inside Congress, of giving us empty
promises and then failing to come through with it. And I—I'll make
a prediction that I made similar to my little book here, that if Con-
gress does not act with diligence on this—this time after the elec-
tions, don’t be surprised if the American public start failing to file
their tax returns on large scale numbers on April 15th. And then
you and Congress will have a hard time justifying your positions
when the country that you have been hired to—to protect no longer
exists. And without money, as you know, sir, our country will not
continue to operate.

Now, sir, I hate to bring this on a personal matter and I trust
you and I respect you and your position more than anything in the
world because you epitomize what our Nation’s made of and for,
but I need your personal guarantee that before I give out the
names and some information, that you'll do what you can to protect
those employees. And these employees have given me the okay to
do it if you told me personally that you would do what you could
to protect them. Is that okay or improper to ask you that? )

Senator NICKLES. I will try to make sure that there’s no retalia-
tion on behalf of any employee for sharing information.



28

Mr. QUISENBERRY. Yes, sir. And I know you've said that before,
but they asked e to ask you personally and that’s what I've done
now.

In support of Mona’s statement about statistical charts, here is
a blatant example of--in my investigation in 1989 through '91
where an employee was specifically given statistics and compared
to not only themselves but other employees. This einployece was
later drummed out of the service. Some of this information has
been sanitized for my protection as well as the people involved, but
I will be willing to provide you any information and leads if this—
if this is to be pursued any further.

Now, I understand that what I was involved with—and basically
what Pll tell the people is I was involved in a high-level internal
security—or internal conspiracy to defraud the United States gov-
ernment b}\: inﬂatinﬁ the use of statistics so that high-level rank-
ing—and high level—high-ranking officials 